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Heritage Recommendation       600907 
Queensland Heritage Act 1992 

Under delegation from the Chief Executive, Department of Environment, Science and Innovation, and under the provisions 
of s.44 of the Queensland Heritage Act 1992, I, Catherine Chambers: 

Recommend to: vary the entry of the place in the heritage register to remove 
part of the place; and revise the statement of cultural heritage significance, 
history, description, and place name. 

 
 

                                                          Recommendation Date: 23 July 2024 

Delegate name/position: Catherine Chambers, Director 

 

 

 

Figure 1: Henlein & Co. Building (former) 
(Queensland Government, 2024) 

 

Figure 2: Proposed heritage register boundary 
(Queensland Government, 2024) 

Current place 
name 

Henlein & Co. (Best & Less) 

Proposed place 
name 

Henlein & Co. Building (former) 

Proposed 
alternative names 

H F Henlein & Co. Building; Henlein & Co. Ltd Building; Henleins 
Building 

Address 
LGA 

408-410 Flinders Street, TOWNSVILLE, 4810 
Townsville City Council 

RPD Lot 33 on T11860  

Proposed heritage 
register boundary 

The proposed heritage register boundary contains part of Lot 33 on 
T11860. The proposed heritage boundary follows the lot boundary for its 
northeast, northwest and southwest extents, and encompasses the entirety 
of the 1902 building for its southeast extent. 
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Statement of Cultural Heritage Significance 

criterion a 

the place is important in 

demonstrating the 

evolution or pattern of 

Queensland’s history 

Henlein & Co. Building (former), as rare surviving physical evidence of 

the commercial activities of Jewish immigrants, many of whom 

conducted businesses contributing to Queensland’s commercial 

development during the colonial period and early 20th century, is 

important in demonstrating the Jewish diaspora in Queensland. The 

building (constructed 1902) retains original and early interior fabric and 

surviving original features of the façade.  

criterion b 

the place demonstrates 

rare, uncommon or 

endangered aspects of 

Queensland’s cultural 

heritage 

Henlein & Co. Building (former) does not demonstrate rare, uncommon, 
or endangered aspects of Queensland’s cultural heritage. Early 20th 
century commercial warehouses are not rare in Queensland, with many 
examples surviving across the state. The building’s Federation-era 
style, decorative detailing, materials, and construction techniques are 
typical for the period, and numerous examples of comparable buildings 
survive. 

The place does not satisfy this criterion. 

criterion c 

the place has potential to 

yield information that will 

contribute to an 

understanding of 

Queensland’s history 

The history and fabric of Henlein & Co. Building (former) is well 
documented, and the place has insufficient potential to contribute new 
knowledge about Queensland’s history; knowledge that will lead to a 
greater understanding of particular aspects of Queensland’s history; or 
knowledge that will aid in comparative analysis of similar places. 

The place does not satisfy this criterion. 

criterion d 

the place is important in 

demonstrating the 

principal characteristics of 

a particular class of 

cultural places 

While Henlein & Co. Building (former) is an example of an early 20th 
century commercial warehouse in Queensland, it is not important in 
demonstrating the principal characteristics of this class of cultural place 
as it is not intact, having lost key features over time through substantial 
alterations for other uses. Its layout no longer demonstrates its original 
functions of goods warehousing, retailing, and despatching as it has 
lost its interior partitions, doors, windows, stairs, rear wall, and service 
yard. Sections of its characteristic warehouse structure (loadbearing 
brick walls, herringbone floor framing, and heavy, timber posts) have 
been replaced by modern steel and concrete posts, frames, and slabs.  
Its Flinders Street facade has been altered by replacing its original 
ground floor street-front with aluminium-framed windows and doors, 
addition of a footpath awning, pediment removal, and painting over the 
face brick and cement render decorations. 

The place is not exceptional, early, or rare in demonstrating the 
principal characteristics of its class of cultural place, as numerous other 
examples were built and survive. 

The place does not satisfy this criterion at a state-level of cultural 
heritage significance. 
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criterion e 

the place is important 

because of its aesthetic 

significance 

While the facade of Henlein & Co. Building (former) originally 
possessed beautiful attributes through its form, Federation-era style, 
materials, and decorative detailing, these attributes have been 
compromised or lost through later alterations and demolition. The place 
no longer possesses aesthetic attributes or qualities, nor does it 
contribute to the streetscape sufficiently to be important at a state level 
of cultural heritage significance. 

The place does not satisfy this criterion at a state-level of cultural 
heritage significance. 

criterion f 

the place is important in 

demonstrating a high 

degree of creative or 

technical achievement at a 

particular period 

Henlein & Co. Building (former) does not display any notable artistic, 
architectural, or creative qualities or any technical, construction or 
design qualities to be sufficiently important in demonstrating a high 
degree of creative or technical achievement at a particular period. 

The place does not satisfy this criterion. 

criterion g 

the place has a strong or 

special association with a 

particular community or 

cultural group for social, 

cultural or spiritual 

reasons 

No evidence has been found that demonstrates the Henlein & Co. 
Building (former) has a strong or special association with a particular 
community or cultural group for social, cultural, or spiritual reasons. 

The place does not satisfy this criterion at a state-level of cultural 
heritage significance. 

criterion h 

the place has a special 

association with the life or 

work of a particular 

person, group or 

organisation of importance 

in Queensland’s history 

Henlein & Co. Building (former) does not have a special association 
with the life or work of a particular person, group, or organisation of 
importance in Queensland’s history. 

The place does not satisfy this criterion at a state-level of cultural 
heritage significance. 
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History 

Henlein & Co. Building (former), located at 408-410 Flinders Street, Townsville, is a two-

storey, brick warehouse. It was purpose-built in 1902 for Townsville merchants, H F Henlein 

& Co. (established 1894) and occupied by the business for 28 years. H F Henlein & Co. and 

its subsequent companies conducted by Henry Frederick Henlein and his brother Sigismund, 

Jewish migrants from Germany, operated in North Queensland until c1930. The building is 

rare known surviving physical evidence of the commercial activities of Jewish immigrants in 

Queensland before the 1930s. 

Sited on the traditional lands of the Gurambilbarra Wulgurukaba People,1 Townsville was 

established in 1864 as a service centre and port for pastoral settlers in the region. Located on 

the western shore of Cleveland Bay on the banks of Ross Creek, the settlement was ideally 

situated for trade to and from its hinterland. The port of Townsville was proclaimed a ‘Port of 

Entry and Clearance’ in 1865 and a small customs service established there. The first sale of 

Townsville allotments occurred in 1865 and the settlement was proclaimed a town in 1866. 

Flinders Street, near the early wharves, became the principal commercial street of the 

settlement.  

Townsville continued to grow during the remainder of the 19th century, becoming ‘the major 

commercial, social, ecclesiastical, legal, medical and education centre for the entire region of 

North Queensland from Bowen to Cape York’,2 and was declared a city in 1902. A series of 

factors during the 19th century stimulated Townsville’s continued development and population 

growth. These were: discovery of gold in Townsville’s hinterland at Cape River (1867), 

Ravenswood (1868) and later at Charters Towers (1871);3 the establishment of a railway 

(commenced in 1879) from Townsville to Charters Towers (1882), Hughenden (1887), and 

ultimately to Mount Isa (1929); and the development of an artificial outer harbour to overcome 

the shallow depth of the port by 1900.4 Around the turn of 20th century, these factors and the 

construction of the Victoria Bridge (between 1887 and 1889) linking both sides of Ross Creek, 

also led to the extension westward of the town’s commercial activity along Flinders Street 

towards the Townsville Railway Station [QHR 600906].5 

Establishment of H F Henlein & Co 

H F Henlein & Co. commenced operations in North Queensland in 1894, with Henry, as its 

senior partner, in partnership with his brother Sigismund. In May that year, Henry Henlein 

relocated from Brisbane to Townsville to act as the agent for West End Brewery, which was 

based in Brisbane. H F Henlein & Co. was first registered as a wholesale spirit dealer in 

Townsville in September 1894 and by December that year, the business also operated from 

Messrs Newman’s auction building in Charters Towers. By February 1895, the business had 

received its first licences to sell tobacco ‒ in Charters Towers and Townsville. By January 

1896, H F Henlein & Co. operated as wine, spirit, and general merchants, insurance and 

forwarding agents, had voting rights on the newly formed Townsville Harbour Board, which 

commenced operations on 1 January 1896.6 By 1901, H F Henlein & Co. supplied alcohol to 

hotels from Ayr to Burketown to western Queensland and, at the end of the year, successfully 

tendered to supply the refreshment room at Reid River Railway Station for the Queensland 

Railways Department.7 

Both Henlein brothers had migrated to New South Wales (NSW) in the early 1880s. Henry 

Frederick Henlein arrived in Australia as a saloon passenger on the SS Liguria from London 

to Sydney in September 1881.8 In Sydney, he established H F Henlein & Co., importing 



600907 
HENLEIN & CO. (BEST & LESS) 

Heritage Recommendation, s.44(4)(b) of the Queensland Heritage Act 1992 
 

 

Prepared by Heritage, Department of Environment, Science and Innovation, July 2024                                                 5 

 

OFFICIAL 

general goods described as ‘cottonware’, 9  and ‘clay goods and hollow glass…from 

Hamburg’.10 Henry’s brother, Sigismund, joined him in NSW in 1883, as a representative of a 

continental firm dealing in cloth or soft goods. Born circa 1857 and 1862 respectively, these 

Jewish brothers came from Frankfurt-am-Main or nearby Wiesbaden, Germany.11 

Henry Henlein’s business venture in NSW failed in 1884. In April that year, he was charged 

with insolvency in the NSW Supreme Court by his creditors Sir Benjamin Samuel Phillips, 

Knight, Samuel Henry Phillips, and George Faudel Phillips of London, England, who operated 

the firm Faudel, Phillips & Sons, merchants of London. This action resulted in Henry Henlein 

being declared bankrupt in 1885.12 

In May 1884, Henry travelled from Sydney to Townsville13 and at some time before May 1887, 

Henry had commenced another chapter in his life, initially travelling throughout Queensland 

as a representative of Quinlan Gray & Co., brewers, and later as the company’s ‘town 

representative’, based in Brisbane. This business formed in 1878 with Gray as managing 

partner, and established a brewery at Milton in Brisbane in conjunction with E and N Fitzgerald 

of Victoria. In 1887, the businesses amalgamated into the public company, Castlemaine 

Brewery and Quinlan Gray & Co. Brisbane Ltd. Sigismund Henlein also worked as a 

representative of this company by July 1888; travelling widely in Queensland, as well as acting 

as its representative in Toowoomba for some years.14 

Henlein & Co. Building 

From c1895, H F Henlein & Co.’s premises were located on the ‘left-hand side’ of Flinders 

Street between Stanley and Blackwood Streets, the last building before the Blackwood Street 

intersection. From May 1902 until its closure about 1930, H F Henlein & Co. and its subsequent 

companies occupied the purpose-built H F Henlein & Co. Building on the southern side of 

Flinders Street between Stokes and Stanley Streets (now 408-410 Flinders Street).15 

The former Henlein & Co. Building, a commercial warehouse, was purpose-built for H F 

Henlein & Co, although owned by Townsville businessman, Henry Abbott. The building was 

designed by architecture firm, Eaton, Bates & Polin, established in Rockhampton c1894 and 

operating as Eaton and Bates until 1901. They conducted an extensive architecture practice 

in the early 20th century, with branches across Queensland producing a diverse range of 

building types. Tenders were received in October 1901 and the building was sufficiently 

completed for a seven-year lease between Abbott and H F Henlein & Co. to be signed on 1 

May 1902, implying that the building was at least partially occupied from that time.16 

Numerous commercial warehouse buildings were constructed in the Federation period across 

Queensland. These buildings shared common characteristics including: a central, commercial 

location near other retail and commercial premises and goods transport services/routes (train, 

wharf, road, etc); and solid, secure construction of typically loadbearing masonry walls and 

large timber, steel, or iron internal posts and beams, supporting timber-framed floors with 

herringbone bracing between joists to support heavy, shifting loads. They also typically had 

highly decorative front elevations, contrasting with plain other elevations, as well as security 

measures, such as barred windows. They were functional buildings, laid out with a small front 

section used for retailing or welcoming customers (typically wholesale buyers), accessed from 

the street. The largest portion of the buildings was for warehousing, comprising robust, large, 

and open goods storage spaces, secured and indirectly lit to protect goods, that would be 

goods-specific if necessary (such as cellaring for alcohol). They usually had a relatively small 

office space for administration, and a despatching section with rear or side access from a 

loading yard via loading doors, goods lift, chute, or winch.17 
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When completed, the building for H F Henlein & Co. shared these characteristics. Centrally 
located, it fronted Townsville’s main retail street, Flinders Street, and was near the wharves 
and railway station. It was a loadbearing brick structure18 of two storeys with a basement, built 
up to the Flinders Street and side boundaries. It had an open area at the rear used as a service 
yard, accessed from Ogden Street (originally named Flinders Lane). Its timber-framed gable 
roof was clad with corrugated metal sheets, and had tall, conical ridge ventilators. The front 
facade was elaborately decorative, featuring face brick walls, cement render decorative 
treatments, raised cement render letters ‘H.F. HENLEIN & CO’ on the building’s first floor 
frieze, a tall central pediment above the parapet, and an arched, recessed ground floor main 
entrance reached by steps up from the footpath. It had timber sash windows in the ground and 
first floor levels, secured with iron bars. Through its large, arched front door with multi-paned 
side and fan lights, the ground floor was almost double-height. It had a timber board floor and 
through the middle of the space ran a line of large timber posts supporting the timber-framed 
floors with herringbone bracing above. The first floor was also a very tall space, and it is not 
known if it had a ceiling or its roof frames were exposed. The basement was a low space with 
a line of heavy timber posts supporting the braced floor above. The rear yard was at the same 
level as the basement floor.19 

Henlein family 

The Henlein brothers, like many Jewish migrants to Queensland from the 1860s up to the 

1930s, adopted the Britishness20 dominant in Australian society and became involved in the 

Townsville community. Henry Henlein was naturalised as a British subject on 22 August 1894 

and his brother followed suit in 1902. In 1895, both Henry, age 38, and his brother Sigmund, 

age 33, became eligible to vote in Queensland based on the value of their residences on The 

Strand. Henry was involved in community activities in both Brisbane and Townsville from the 

1890s. Between 1890 and 1892 he held the rank of acting lieutenant in the Kennedy Regiment 

of the Queensland Defence Force (Land). Henry also served as a Justice of the Peace from 

1899. In 1901, Henry endowed a commencing scholarship at the Toowoomba Grammar 

School and served as a trustee at the school from 1909 to 1911. He was a member of the 

Townsville Central State School Committee from 1907 to 1911. Henry was a committee 

member of the Townsville Turf Club, based at Cluden Racecourse, in 1904 and 1905 and 

served as one of its totalisator stewards in 1906. Sigismund was less involved in community 

and philanthropic activities, but was a Vice-President of the Townsville Australian Natives’ 

Association Band in 1913, and like his brother took an avid interest in horse racing and was a 

Townsville Turf Club member.21 

Nevertheless, the Henlein brothers also upheld non-British connections. In April 1893, Henry 

chaired the committee of German residents in Brisbane, organising a public reception for the 

Archduke of Austria who was touring Australasia. In 1910, Henry was appointed vice-consul 

of the Netherlands at Townsville, and Sigismund was appointed to this position in his brother’s 

place from December 1911.22 

Both brothers married and raised families in Townsville. Sigismund married Harriet Goldring, 

a member of Toowoomba’s Jewish community, in the Toowoomba Synagogue in 1897, and 

their marriage resulted in four children. Henry married Jeannie Long in 1899 and two sons 

were born to them, in 1900 and 1910.23 The brothers were known to be Jewish.24 The families 

both resided near Townsville’s city centre.25 After Henry died in Brisbane in May 1911, The 

Telegraph newspaper described him as a ‘highly respected northern man’26 and ‘a popular 

business man in the north…well known and highly respected by commercial houses in 

Brisbane’ 27  A large group of well-connected mourners attended his funeral, which was 

conducted with Church of England rites.28 
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Following Henry’s death, Sigismund continued in business, converting H F Henlein & Co. into 

the limited liability company, Henlein & Co. Ltd, registered on 10 October 1911. This company 

was established with capital of 30,000 one-pound shares. The principal shareholders were 

Sigismund Henlein (merchant; 9999 shares), Hyman Goldring (accountant; 9999 shares), 

Jacob Leu (solicitor; 9999 shares) and Jeannie Henlein (Henry’s widow; 500 shares).29 

Despite the loss of its senior partner, Henlein & Co. Ltd persisted and grew. The company 

continued to trade in wholesale wine spirits, as well as other merchandise, including wool in 

1913.30 By 1921, Henlein & Co. advertised as ‘Wine, Spirit, Produce and General Merchants, 

Commission and Forwarding Agents, Townsville, stocking all the leading brands in wines, 

spirits and groceries’.31 In 1921, Henlein & Co. Ltd purchased the Henlein & Co. Building from 

its owner, Henry Abbott.32  

However, in October 1924 the company went into voluntary liquidation resulting in a 

regrouping of the business rather than its end, and the sale of the Henlein & Co. Building to 

the English, Scottish & Australian Bank (ES&A Bank) in 1925. In March 1926, a new limited 

liability company, Henleins Ltd, was established with £50,000 capital. Through a five-year 

lease from 1 August 1926, Henleins Ltd continued to share the Henlein & Co. Building with 

the ES&A Bank and occupied 75 per cent of the 20-perch (1000m2) property.33 Prior to this, in 

September 1925, Sigismund and several family members also established Innisfail Stores Ltd 

at Innisfail, in conjunction with the Moran family. This company traded as retail and wholesale 

merchants, grocers, fruiterers, amongst other things. By 1928, Henleins Ltd was also 

operating as a bonded warehouse in Townsville, one of 22 bonded warehouses in Queensland 

in that year; four of which were located in Townsville.34 

Following Sigismund’s death in September 1928, Henleins Ltd was wound up by May 1931,35 

and most likely quit the building by May 1930. The Henlein name continued in the company 

name Frasers Henleins Ltd, registered on 3 May 1930 and most likely formed through buy-out 

of Henleins Ltd. Frasers Henleins Ltd (later Fraser Henleins Pty Ltd) based in Sturt Street, 

Townsville, traded as wholesale merchants in North Queensland until c1946.36 

The Henlein brothers operated as merchants for more than 30 years in the competitive North 

Queensland market. Between 1895 and 1918, there were between six and 17 wholesale spirit 

dealer licences held in Townsville each year, with more based in other towns in North 

Queensland (rising to 58 in 1914).37 The company was named as one of the 17 leading 

mercantile houses in Townsville in 192138 and in 1928 the Daily Mercury newspaper in Mackay 

described the company as a ‘well-known mercantile firm’;39 while more recently Townsville 

historian Dorothy Gibson-Wilde called H F Henlein & Co. a leading Townsville liquor 

wholesaler.40 

Jewish migration to Queensland 

Jewish people were resident in the Colony of Queensland from the 1860s.41 Their population 

rose from 49 in 1861 (0.16% of the total population) to a 19th century peak of 809 in 1891 

(0.21% of Queensland population), before falling to 733 in 1901 (0.15% of Queensland’s 

population of 498,129), before rising again from the 1910s due to events in Europe.42 

The Henlein brothers were members of a small Jewish community in Townsville, which 

comprised 11 males and 12 females in 1901. The Townsville community made up 3.14% of 

the total Jewish population in Queensland of 733, and 0.005% of the state’s total population, 

in 1901.43 Oral history states that a room in the home of fellow Jewish man, Sama (original 

surname: Hillel), who resided nearby at 14 Kennedy Terrace, served as a meeting place for 
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Jewish worship in Townsville.44 Throughout the 19th century, the majority of Queensland’s 

Jewish population lived in Brisbane (422 of 733 or 57.3% in 1901), 45 forming the nucleus of 

the Brisbane Hebrew Congregation founded in Brisbane in 1865.46 A smaller congregation 

resided in Toowoomba and established Queensland’s first synagogue in 1876, while 

Brisbane’s much larger synagogue was consecrated on 18 July 1886.47 The remainder of the 

Jewish population was scattered across the colony.48 

Queensland’s early Jewish community (1860s-1920s) assimilated into the wider community. 

They strongly supported the British Empire and its monarchy, and adopted Britishness.49 In 

Brisbane, the presence of a Jewish congregation from 1864 assists identification of its 

members.50 Jewish migrants living outside Brisbane usually worked as hawkers, pedlars, or 

storekeepers in small country towns.51 Others were tradespeople and merchants, who were 

often self-employed.52 According to Jennifer Creese, author of Jewish Life in Queensland: 

Celebrating 150 years since 1865, in regional Queensland, it is ‘hard to track colonial Jewish 

business owners because there is very little reliable way to identify them as Jewish because 

the communities were so small … and often the businessmen convert[ed], or marr[ied] 

Christians, or [didn’t] record their faith so they [could] fit in’.53 

As a result, there is little known physical evidence of Jewish people and Jewish-owned 

commercial buildings in regional and country towns of colonial Queensland during the second 

half of the 19th century and early 20th century. The Jewish Synagogue in Toowoomba was 

demolished c1929 after loss of its congregation.54 The main evidence of the Jewish presence 

in regional and country Queensland is Jewish gravestones in cemeteries.55 

Extant business/commercial properties purpose-built for Jewish business people from this 

period in Queensland are few. Regional and country places identified are: the former Henlein 

& Co. Building, Townsville; the Australian Hotel, Boonah (built by the Blumberg brothers and 

run by Adolphus and Levi Blumberg, and Levi’s wife Elizabeth from 1888 to 1903); and the 

Royal Hotel, Mt Usher Road, Bouldercombe, Central Queensland, which was built for Samuel 

Heiser in 1897 and operated by him.56 

Even in Brisbane, known extant commercial buildings that accommodated Jewish businesses 

(but were not purpose-built for them) are limited to: The Alderley Arms Hotel, Samford Road, 

Brisbane (opened 1889), which in 1902 was owned and run by Solomon Lipstein, a well-known 

Jewish publican and long-time resident of Rockhampton and Pimpama; and the Allan & Stark 

Annex, Brisbane [QHR 600162 Myer Store (former)], which was built by Thomas Illidge as an 

investment property in 1881. The first tenant was Jonas M Myers, fancy goods merchant, and 

also lay leader of the Brisbane Hebrew Congregation.57  

English, Scottish & Australian Bank Changes 

Established in Queensland in 1889, the English, Scottish & Australian (ES&A) Bank operated 

only a Brisbane branch until 1906, when it expanded into rural and regional Queensland. 

Following its purchase of the Henlein & Co. Building in 1925, the ES&A Bank shared 

occupancy of the Henlein & Co. Building until 1942.58 

During the bank’s use of the Henlein & Co. Building, a number of changes were made to the 

building. The raised cement render letters ‘H.F. HENLEIN & CO’ were cut off the building’s 

first floor frieze, and four painted signs ‘English Scottish & Australian Bank Limited’ were 

added to the building’s front. It is possible a bank vault was added into the basement for this 

occupation or had pre-existed. 
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Carfoots Pty Ltd Changes 

In July 1938, the ES&A Bank leased the Henlein & Co. Building to Carfoots Pty Ltd, furniture 
dealers, for ten years.59 At the time, this business was described as having ‘built up a State-
wide trade as wholesale suppliers of furniture to [Queensland] provincial stores’ and traded as 
far south as Lismore before entering the retail furniture market in Townsville in 1934. Their 
existing retail space nearby had become inadequate, so plans were prepared by March 1938 
for the Henlein building to be refurbished to include a shop and warehouse for Carfoots, in 
addition to the bank branch. This would include ‘modern showrooms on two floors with 
basement accommodation, and a factory adjunct at the rear’, although the latter does not 
appear to have been accommodated at opening.60 The showrooms were to have 5500 feet 
(1676m) of show space and were to be ‘elaborately fitted up, with an attractive frontage and 
cantilever awning’.61 Tenders for the remodelling were called from February 1938 by Brisbane-
based architects G H M Addison and Son & H S MacDonald in association with Townsville 
architects Walter and Maurice Hunt.62  

At its opening day in December 1938, Carfoots’ new premises was described as comprising 
‘the whole of the basement, the big part of the ground floor of the building, the large upstairs 
portion, a spacious mezzanine floor and considerable shed and ground accommodation for 
packing and handling of delivery’. 63 

The building’s elaborate face brick and cement render street front was altered to facilitate the 
conversion of the building to a retail shop. This included adding a large footpath awning the 
full width of the frontage, top hung from the building, and demolishing the front wall below this 
for the occupants’ new entrances. Carfoots' new 5m (17’) wide frontage, approximately half 
the building’s total frontage, included a large show window and marble tiled vestibule entrance 
that extended 12m (40’) from the footpath into the ground floor space. This likely required the 
demolition of the original floor structure of the ground floor here, and rebuilding it a lower level 
closer to that of the footpath. Carfoots’ ground floor showroom was approximately 21m (72’) 
long, and on one side were staff offices. Above the entrance vestibule and show window was 
a new mezzanine level between ground and first floors, used for storage. A stair led to the first 
floor, which accommodated a 9m x 27m (30’ x 90’) showroom with ‘large windows and 
casements’. The basement and rear storage sections of the building were said to ‘extend right 
back to Ogden-street’, accommodating ‘general purposes such as temporary storage, 
packing, and arrangements of delivery’.64 

These descriptions of the size of the building do not correlate with the footprint of the brick 
building that survives in 2024, which is only approximately 20m long (Carfoots’ ground floor is 
described as 34m (112’) long with further rooms behind). This indicates that by this time the 
building included rear sections for further accommodation, which may have been original or 
additions.  

Occupation of the building by Carfoots and the ES&A Bank was interrupted during World War 

II (WWII) when the building was requisitioned for use as a United States Armed Forces Post 

Office (APO 922), from April 1942 until July 1944. Due to the rapid advance of Japanese 

forces in the Pacific after December 1941, Townsville became a major staging point for the 

Allied war effort in the Pacific from 1942. The city’s population increased from about 30,000 to 

approximately 90,000-100,000. The lack of materials and labour available to the Allies, meant 

commercial buildings and private homes in Townsville were requisitioned for military 

purposes. Buildings located in the city centre were close to telecommunication facilities and 

essential services and many US and Australian military units were based there. During this 

time, it appears that the vault in the basement of the Henlein & Co. Building was used as a 

dark room.65 



600907 
HENLEIN & CO. (BEST & LESS) 

Heritage Recommendation, s.44(4)(b) of the Queensland Heritage Act 1992 
 

 

Prepared by Heritage, Department of Environment, Science and Innovation, July 2024                                                 10 

 

OFFICIAL 

Following WWII, the Henlein & Co. Building was sold to Jack Nicolas Parpoutis in September 

1947. In December 1948, he extended the lease to Carfoots for a further 10 years. However, 

in February 1954, the building was sold to Carfoots Pty Ltd for use by the company and 

Sunshine Taxis. At this time, the building was described as having a 50m (165’) depth ‘to 

Odgen Street’, which correlates to the entire length of the allotment.66 

In 1961, a four-storey concrete and concrete block extension was built over the rear half of 

the site, accommodating an expansion of Carfoots to occupy all areas of the premises. 

Designed by Brisbane-based architects Goodsir & Carlyle, the new building required the 

demolition of an earlier structure (called the ‘Linoleum Department’) attached to the rear of the 

original main building (age unknown). Other changes were made to the main building, 

including demolishing its brick rear wall on all levels to connect through to the new building, 

demolishing interior stairs and office partitions on the ground floor, and demolishing the 

basement toilets and adding a new concrete basement floor. By this time, the 1938 Flinders 

Street frontage had been replaced with a single, recessed entrance with large show windows, 

likely performed c1954.67 

Best & Less changes and later 

A new phase in the building’s life commenced in the 1970s. The property was sold to Carricks 

Limited in September 1976, and quickly resold in May 1977, to clothing retailer Best & Less 

(Fairfield) Pty Ltd, which operated from the building until c2006.68 

To modernise the shop front for the Best & Less occupation, in c1977 the frontage was again 
demolished and replaced.69 By this time, the front facade had been painted and its first floor 
timber double-hung windows had been replaced with metal-framed glass louvres. Most of the 
basement’s timber posts and beams had been demolished and replaced with large concrete 
posts and beams in new locations of longer spans. It is possible at this time that the basement 
floor was also concreted. A fire-rated ceiling was added to the ground floor, concealing the 
timber-framed floor structure of the first floor, and the non-original mezzanines were 
demolished. A new concrete stair and concrete block stairwell were added to one side of the 
ground floor, leading up to the first floor, and a suspended ceiling was added to the first floor.70 

In 2006 the interior was refurbished to accommodate a new fit out, with new partitions 
constructed throughout the ground floor. 

After 2006, the shop front was again demolished and replaced with aluminium-framed hinged 
doors and fixed windows forming two entrances, one into the ground floor, and one to a 
stairwell to the first floor, which operated as separate tenancies to the ground floor. The first 
floor was partitioned into small offices and a suspended ceiling was installed throughout. This 
ceiling obscured an earlier, coved, timber beaded-board-lined ceiling with lattice vents and 
iron tie rods.  

From September 2019, part of the ground floor and part of the basement was leased to an art 

studio and gallery.71 Around 2023, further modern partitions were added to the first floor to 

accommodate a new multi-tenancy occupation. 

In 2024, the Henlein & Co. Building (former) is used for multiple tenancies, and an art gallery 

and studio. While the building has been used as a multi-tenancy commercial building for many 

years, it retains original features from its warehouse use. Purpose-built for H F Henlein & Co., 

the building is rare, known, surviving physical evidence of the commercial activities of Jewish 

people in Queensland before the 1930s. 
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Description 

Henlein & Co. Building (former) (1902) is a two-storey, brick and timber-framed warehouse 
with basement, fronting Flinders Street in central Townsville. It stands on half of a long and 
narrow allotment, which extends to a rear service lane, Ogden Street. A four storey, concrete 
and concrete block building (built c1961) stands on the rear half of the allotment abutting the 
Henlein & Co. Building and is outside the cultural heritage boundary.  

Although Henlein & Co. Building (former) has been altered for later non-significant uses, it 
retains fabric and features of its original warehouse use of state-level cultural heritage 
significance. It is rectangular in plan form, with loadbearing brick perimeter walls built to the 
allotment boundaries. It retains areas of original, timber floor structure of the ground and first 
floor, comprising heavy posts and beams, cross bracing between joists to support shifting 
loads, and timber floorboards. It has a timber-framed gable roof clad with corrugated metal 
sheets, although it has lost its original, metal-sheet ridge ventilators. It retains a section of its 
original, elaborately decorated, face brick and cement render facade, although it has been 
altered and partly demolished. The interior spaces have been altered to accommodate later, 
non-significant uses and its original brick rear wall has been entirely demolished, including the 
parapet above the roofline. 

Features of Henlein & Co. Building (former) of state-level cultural heritage significance include: 

• two-storey form with basement level; 

• original loadbearing brick perimeter walls, and face brick walls at the Flinders Street 
end of the basement forming a small ‘room’ and its vaulted, brick ceiling (a remnant of 
structure formerly supporting the original recessed front entrance above); 

• original features of facade, including brick wall and engaged piers (originally face 
brick), cement render dressings (originally unpainted), arched window openings and 
their iron bars, and remnants of large arched entrance opening and flanking square-
headed window openings; 

• original timber gable roof framing; 

• original heavy timber posts and beams of basement and ground floor;  

• original timber floor framing with cross bracing between joists of ground and first floors 
(some are obscured behind later linings), and timber floor boards;  

• early, possibly original coved beaded board ceiling and iron tie rods of first floor; and 

• early, possibly original basement vault, iron doors, and all associated features, 
excluding modern alterations for adjacent concrete block stair. 

Features of Henlein & Co. Building (former) not of state-level cultural heritage significance are 
all alterations made and fabric introduced after 1902, including: 

• alterations to the facade, including: awning; paint; all fabric forming the street frontage 
at ground level; infill material and glazing to original arched entrance and flanking 
ground floor windows; and first floor window sashes (louvres and arched, fixed 
fanlight);    

• all roof cladding and rain water goods, including metal roof sheets, gutters, flashings, 
and downpipes; 

• concrete basement floor, posts, and beams, and concrete floors of ground floor;  

• non-original timber floor framing and steel posts; 

• all partitions, doors, and stairs; 

• all wall linings, including remnant early plaster wall finishes, and modern plasterboard 
and suspended grid ceilings; and 

• all services, including electrical and HVAC systems, fixtures, fittings, and cables. 
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Illustrations 

 

Figure 3: Henlein & Co. Building (former) (Queensland Government, 2024) 

 

Figure 4: Flinders Street streetscape (Queensland Government, 2024) 
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Figure 5: Flinders Street frontage, ground floor (Queensland Government, 2023) 

 

Figure 6: 1961 rear building on Ogden Street (Queensland Government, 2023) 
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Figure 7: Ground floor, 1902 section, looking from front to rear (Queensland Government, 2023) 

 

Figure 8: Ground floor, at the junction between the 1902 building and the later extension (Queensland 
Government, 2023) 
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Figure 9: First floor, 1902 section, looking to front wall (Queensland Government 2023) 

 

Figure 10: First floor, looking to the rear, 1902 section (Queensland Government, 2023) 
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Figure 11: Basement (Queensland Government, 2023)  
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Plans 

 

Figure 12: Fabric analysis plan, 2024 (Queensland Government, 2024) 
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Figure 13: Fabric Analysis plan, 2024 (Queensland Government, 2024)  
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Figure 14: Flinders Street Elevation, Fabric Analysis, 2024 (Queensland Government, 2024) 
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Proposed heritage register boundary 

The proposed heritage register boundary contains part of Lot 33 on T11860. The proposed 

heritage boundary follows the lot boundary for its northeast, northwest and southwest 

extents, and encompasses the entirety of the 1902 building for its southeast extent. 

 

Figure 15: Proposed heritage register boundary (Queensland Government, 2024) 
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Current heritage register boundary 

The current heritage boundary encompasses all of Lot 33 T11860. 

 

Figure 16: Current heritage register boundary (Queensland Government, 2023) 
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46 QHR 600127 The Brisbane Synagogue. 
47 Ochert, ‘Darling Downs Jewry and the Toowoomba Hebrew Congregation’, pp.555-6. 
48 ABS, Queensland Census of 1901, Table XCI showing the number of males, females ad persons 
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Toowoomba Cemetery; Rutland, ‘Editor’s Introduction’, AJSHJ, p.549 states: ‘As is true of so many 
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or five that Lipstein managed. Allan & Stark department store leased the building in 1899 then 
purchased it in 1925. It was renovated to fit in more with the main store façade and a third storey 
added, but is extant in 2024. 
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Merrett, ANZ Bank: A history of the Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited and its 
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62 ‘Tenders’, Townsville Daily Bulletin, 5 Mar 1938, p.2. 
63 ‘Carfoot’s New Premises’, Townsville Daily Bulletin, 14 Dec 1938, p.11. 
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65 Queensland World War II historic places website: ‘United States Army Post Office (APO922) - 
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66 Resources, CoT 20331066; ‘Big Townsville Property Sales’, The Courier-Mail, 3 Feb 1954, p.8; 
‘Townsville Properties Sold’, Daily Mercury, 3 Feb 1954, p.16. 
67 Drawing Sheets 1-5/5, ‘Extensions to Premises for Carfoots Pty Ltd, Townsville’, Architects DB 
Goodsir and H J Carlyle, Nov 1960. 
68 Resources, CoT 20331066; Environmental Protection Agency site visit 2006 images, Department of 
Environment, Science and Innovation, LHIS database. 
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